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Bankruptcy Law Provides New Tools
to Combat Fraud and Abuse
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T
he United States Trustee Program
(USTP or Program) is very pleased to
contribute articles to this issue devoted

to the important statutory changes made by the
Bankruptcy Abuse Prevention and Consumer
Protection Act of 2005 (BAPCPA), Pub. L. No.
109-8, 119 Stat. 23. This law provides new tools
to the United States Trustees and others to combat
bankruptcy fraud and abuse. With our partners in
law enforcement, the USTP will endeavor to more
effectively identify and take civil action against
wrongdoing, as well as assist United States
Attorneys in prosecuting appropriate criminal
cases.

As the Justice Department component with
responsibility for oversight of the bankruptcy
system, the USTP carries out a wide array of
litigation, regulatory, and administrative
responsibilities. Although our long-standing
mission has been to promote the integrity and
efficiency of the bankruptcy system, over the past
five years our top priority has been to implement
our National Civil Enforcement Initiative.
Through this Initiative, we have addressed debtor
improprieties and provided greater protection to
honest debtors who were defrauded or taken
advantage of by attorneys, petition preparers,
creditors, or others. From FY 2002-2005, the
USTP took about 170,000 civil enforcement and
related actions (including investigations and
actions not culminating in litigation), which
yielded $1.75 billion in quantifiable results, such
as debts not discharged, fees disgorged, fines, and
other remedies. 

 An integral part of our campaign against
bankruptcy fraud and abuse was the establishment
of a new Criminal Enforcement Unit (CREU) in
2003. The new unit is staffed largely by former
prosecutors who have trained hundreds of USTP
and law enforcement staff and assisted in scores
of prosecutions nationwide since the unit was
created. The CREU significantly strengthened the
Program's ability to detect, refer, and assist in the

prosecution of criminal violations. In addition to
assisting in specific cases, CREU members are
available to provide training to federal and local
law enforcement personnel, and to assist in
developing national and local bankruptcy fraud
working groups for the collaborative investigation
and prosecution of criminal conduct. In these
working groups, CREU members and other
Program staff serve as a resource for information,
education and training on the bankruptcy system
and specific law enforcement initiatives. 

Under BAPCPA, there are three major
reforms for which the USTP has special
enforcement responsibility.

• Means Testing. The statute institutes new
financial reporting requirements for consumer
debtors, and subjects the reported information
to an objective "means test" to help determine
whether a debtor is eligible for chapter 7
relief. This new test will allow United States
Trustees to more expeditiously identify and
pursue those who defraud and abuse the
bankruptcy system.

• Credit Counseling. Among the consumer
protection provisions is a requirement that
debtors seek credit counseling before they file
for bankruptcy relief. This will help ensure
that debtors know their options before taking
the drastic step of filing a bankruptcy petition.
Through the USTP's civil enforcement efforts,
a regrettably large number of cases were
discovered in which attorneys, bankruptcy
petition preparers, credit repair services, or
others took advantage of vulnerable debtors
and placed clients in bankruptcy—sometimes
even without the debtors' knowledge–despite
the availability of less drastic options. Under
the reform law, bankruptcy debtors now must
seek counseling through agencies approved by
the USTP. In the past, some credit counseling
agencies have been sanctioned by federal and
state authorities for inducing their clients into
debt-management plans that enrich the
counselors without benefitting the clients.
With help from the Internal Revenue Service
and the Federal Trade Commission, the
Program has developed an application
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procedure based on the statutory standards for
pre-bankruptcy credit counselors, and is
scrutinizing applicants to minimize the risk of
approving an unscrupulous provider.

• Debtor Audits. BAPCPA mandates that the
USTP arrange for random and targeted audits
of debtors to determine the accuracy of the
financial information provided in documents
filed with the court. Not only will this new
system help identify wrongdoers, who may be
referred for criminal prosecution, but it also
will help identify "red flags" for the efficient
detection of possible fraud in other cases.

The new bankruptcy law includes many other
provisions of vital importance to the USTP and
law enforcement. Section 158 of title 18 calls for
the designation of bankruptcy fraud coordinators
in United States Attorneys' and FBI field offices
in every district. There are new attorney
disciplinary procedures to help clamp down on
lawyers who fail to carry out their obligations to
their clients. There are important new chapter 11
provisions to expedite a small business' passage
through bankruptcy. For example, 11 U.S.C.
§ 1104(e) puts new obligations on the USTP to
oust management in public companies and other
cases in which there is accounting or other fraud.

I hope that federal prosecutors and other
readers will find the articles contributed by USTP
officials in this U.S. Attorneys' Bulletin to be of
assistance in the prosecution of bankruptcy
crimes. Everyone in the USTP, from the Director
in the Executive Office to the staff attorneys in the
field, stands ready to assist federal law
enforcement in prosecuting wrongdoers who
compromise the integrity of the bankruptcy
system. Debtors and creditors alike rely upon the
bankruptcy system to provide fair, efficient, and
effective relief that is free from fraud or abuse.
We look forward to continuing to work in
partnership with the United States Attorneys'
offices to identify and prosecute bankruptcy
fraud.�
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I. Introduction

It has been said that "[b]ehind every great
fortune there is a crime." Ironically, sometimes a
crime lies behind apparent debt or misfortune as
well. Purportedly impoverished debtors may
commit fraud by lying on their bankruptcy
documents and concealing assets to avoid
repaying their debts. Criminals may also attempt
to forestall the collapse of their illegal schemes by
fraudulently filing for bankruptcy to stop
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collection efforts and delay the ultimate discovery
and detection of their fraud. The United States
Trustee Program (USTP or Program) is committed
to working with its colleagues in the United States
Attorneys' and law enforcement communities to
detect, investigate, and prosecute these, as well as
all other fraudulent abuses of the bankruptcy
system.

II. United States Trustee Program

The Program, a component of the Department
of Justice (Department), serves as a "watchdog"
over the bankruptcy process. H.R. Rep. No. 95-
595, at 4 (1977), as reprinted in 1978
U.S.C.C.A.N. 5963, 5966. The USTP's mission is
to promote the integrity of the bankruptcy system.
Dep't. of Justice, United States Trustee Program
Strategic Plan FY 2005-2010, at 2 (2005),
available at
http://www.usdoj.gov/ust/eo/ust_org/StrategicPlan
FY2005-2010.pdf. A fundamental means of
achieving that goal is to uncover and detect
bankruptcy fraud and abuse, and to refer possible
criminal conduct to law enforcement and the
United States Attorneys' offices (USAOs). By
actively identifying and referring fraud and abuse,
the Program contributes to the Department's
criminal enforcement efforts and helps to deter
individuals seeking to use the bankruptcy system
to further their criminal endeavors. 

A. Department of Justice Strategic Plan

The Department's FY 2003-2008 Strategic
Plan recognizes the importance of maintaining the
integrity of the bankruptcy system. One of the
Department's objectives is to "[p]rotect the
integrity and ensure the effective operation of the
Nation's bankruptcy system." Dep't. of Justice,
Strategic Plan for FY 2003-2008, at 2.71 (2003)
(discussing Objective 2.6), available at
http://www.usdoj.gov/jmd/mps/strategic2003-200
8/pdf.html. To achieve this goal, the Department
has announced it will "[p]ursue violations of
federal criminal laws pertaining to bankruptcy by
identifying, evaluating, referring, and providing
investigative and prosecutorial support of cases."
Id. at 2.72. As the Department's Strategic Plan
stated:

The integrity of the bankruptcy system
depends upon debtors to report honestly and
accurately all their assets and liabilities when
they file for bankruptcy protection. Such

disclosure is necessary to resolve disputes and
to distribute money and property. The U.S.
Trustees have an affirmative duty to refer
instances of possible criminal conduct by
debtors and third parties to the U.S. Attorney
and to assist in prosecutions. The bankruptcy
system needs a strong impetus to encourage
honest, lawful behavior. Moreover, criminal
referrals from the Program show that
bankruptcy crimes are often linked to other
white collar crimes, such as fraud in obtaining
federally guaranteed mortgage loans, money
laundering, identity theft, mail fraud, and wire
fraud.

Id.

B. United States Trustee Manual

The United States Trustee Manual makes
clear that maintaining the integrity of the
bankruptcy system through aggressive prosecution
of bankruptcy fraud is "a high priority of the
Department of Justice." United States Trustee
Manual, Section 5-1.1 (quoting an October 10,
1995, Memorandum from former Attorney
General Janet Reno). According to the Manual,
this can be achieved through a team approach,
with a focus on the merits of each case rather than
"a blanket declination policy based solely on
dollar amounts." Id. 

C. Statutory duties to refer cases to USAOs

Congress has recognized the importance of
referring, investigating, and prosecuting
bankruptcy-related crimes by enacting 28 U.S.C.
§ 586 (2005) and 18 U.S.C. § 3057 (2005). These
statutes require the USTP, as well as judges and
trustees, to refer possible crimes to the USAOs. 

Title 28, United States Code, Section
586(a)(3)(F) requires each United States Trustee
to notify the United States Attorney of "matters
which relate to the occurrence of any action which
may constitute a crime" and, if requested, to assist
the United States Attorney in "carrying out
prosecutions based on such action." Pursuant to
§ 586, the USTP's duty to refer cases to the
USAOs is not limited to bankruptcy crimes.
Further, as the language of the statute makes clear,
Congress did not intend the USTP to refer only
cases that it believes will be prosecuted, that meet
a certain dollar threshold, or for which there is
evidence demonstrating guilt beyond a reasonable
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doubt. Instead, Congress has mandated that the
Program refer matters to the USAOs whenever
there is evidence of any action that may constitute
a crime. 

In addition to the USTP's duty to refer
possible criminal conduct for prosecution,
bankruptcy judges and trustees have statutory
duties to refer cases to the USAOs. Pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 3057, bankruptcy judges and trustees
who have reasonable grounds to believe that a
crime has been committed or that an investigation
"should be had," must report the facts and the
names of all potential witnesses to the USAO. 18
U.S.C. § 3057(a). Section 3057 requires the
USAO, after receiving such a report, to "inquire"
into the facts and report to the bankruptcy judge.
18 U.S.C. § 3057(b). Further, according to
§ 3057, if it appears "probable" that an offense has
been committed, the United States Attorney must,
"without delay, present the matter to the grand
jury." Id. If, however, the United States Attorney
determines that "the ends of public justice do not
require investigation or prosecution," the
United States Attorney "shall report the facts to
the Attorney General for his direction." Id. 

According to the United States Attorneys'
Manual (USAM), the USAO's duty to report
declinations of bankruptcy fraud referrals,
pursuant to § 3057, is satisfied by "providing the
Fraud Section, Criminal Division, with a concise
summary of the facts of the case and the reasons
for declining it. Concurrence with the decision to
decline may be presumed if no disagreement is
expressed by the Fraud Section." USAM § 9-
41.010. 

D. United States Trustee Program's
Criminal Enforcement Unit

To assist with the USTP's mission and the
Department's Strategic Plan, in 2003 the
Executive Office for United States Trustees
(EOUST) established a Criminal Enforcement
Unit (CREU), which consists of experienced
former federal prosecutors. CREU's mission
includes working with Program staff to identify
and refer possible criminal conduct and to assist
federal law enforcement agencies and USAOs
with bankruptcy-related investigations and
prosecutions. A list of CREU's members and their
contact information is available at http://ustnet/
bankruptcy/criminal_enforcement/index.htm. 

E. Violence Against Women Department of
Justice Reauthorization Act of 2005 

In January 2006, the President signed into law
the Violence Against Women and Department of
Justice Reauthorization Act of 2005 (the Act),
Pub. L. No. 109-162, 119 Stat. 2960 (2006).
Section 1175 of the Act, entitled "Bankruptcy
Crimes," requires the EOUST Director to prepare
an annual report for Congress detailing: "(1) the
number and types of criminal referrals made by
the United States Trustee Program; [and] (2) the
outcomes of each criminal referral." Pub. L. No.
109-162, § 1175. Through this mandate, Congress
has indicated the importance of the Program's
referral of possible bankruptcy-related crimes and
the USAOs' prosecution of such offenses. 

The Program recognized the importance of
tracking its criminal referrals even before the
enactment of § 1175. In Fiscal Year 2004, the
USTP created and implemented the Criminal
Enforcement Tracking System (CETS), a database
designed specifically to track the Program's
criminal referrals, as well as the status of those
referrals. Information from the CETS database is
used to identify bankruptcy-fraud related trends
and to provide comprehensive information to the
Program regarding its criminal referrals. With the
enactment of § 1175, the CETS database will play
an even more important role in the referral process
by facilitating the collection of information
necessary to fulfill the new reporting mandate.

III. 18 U.S.C. § 158

Congress stated that the purpose of the
Bankruptcy Abuse Prevention and Consumer
Protection Act of 2005 (BAPCPA), Pub. L. No.
109-8, 119 Stat. 23, which was signed into law on
April 20, 2005, was to restore "personal
responsibility and integrity in the bankruptcy
system." H.R. Rep. No. 109-31(I), at 2 (2005), as
reprinted in 2005 U.S.C.C.A.N. 88, 89. As part of
BAPCPA, Congress emphasized the vital role that
the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) and the
USAOs will play in achieving that goal. BAPCPA
added § 158 to the criminal statutes contained in
title 18. BAPCA § 203(b)(1). Title 18 U.S.C.
§ 158 requires the Attorney General to designate a
point of contact within each USAO and FBI field
office to address "violations of section 152 or 157
relating to materially fraudulent statements in
bankruptcy schedules that are intentionally false
or intentionally misleading" or that are "related to
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abusive reaffirmations of debt." 18 U.S.C.
§ 158(a)-(b). Section 158 also reiterated that the
USAOs "have primary responsibility for carrying
out the duties of a United States Attorney under
section 3057." 18 U.S.C. § 158(c).

A. Points of contact

The USTP has compiled a list of the
designated points of contact for each USTP,
USAO, and FBI office nationwide. The list,
entitled "Bankruptcy Fraud Points of Contact," is
available from the Executive Office for U.S.
Attorneys or from the CREU. 

B. Working groups

To assist with bankruptcy-related
investigations and prosecutions in each district,
the Program recommends implementing and
utilizing local bankruptcy fraud working groups.
There are currently about fifty such groups
nationwide. These groups meet periodically to
discuss ongoing bankruptcy fraud investigations
and pending criminal referrals. They also provide
assistance as requested by agents and
investigators. A representative of the USTP,
USAO, and several federal law enforcement
agencies, typically make up a working group. For
further information regarding starting or re-
invigorating a local bankruptcy fraud working
group, please contact any member of the
Program's CREU or your local USTP point of
contact. 

Additionally, there is a National Bankruptcy
Fraud Working Group (NBFWG), which consists
of a representative from the USTP, USAOs, the
Department's Criminal Division, FBI, Internal
Revenue Service-Criminal Investigation, Postal
Inspection Service, United States Secret Service,
Housing and Urban Development Office of
Inspector General, Social Security Administration
Office of Inspector General, Federal Trade
Commission, and Executive Office for U.S.
Attorneys, as well as other agencies. The
NBFWG, which meets approximately once a year,
helps coordinate a national response to bankruptcy
fraud issues. 

IV. Common bankruptcy-fraud related
schemes

There are many different bankruptcy-related
schemes in which perpetrators fraudulently
exploit the bankruptcy system to further their
criminal endeavors. Some examples include real
estate fraud, identity theft, and bust-outs. 

A. Real estate fraud schemes

• Financial counseling fraud. Homeowners
whose properties are in foreclosure are
contacted, usually through the mail, by a
"financial consultant." The consultant
fraudulently tells the homeowners that he/she
will locate a lender to refinance the
homeowner's delinquent mortgage.
Homeowners are instructed to make their
mortgage payments to the consultant. The
perpetrator does not, and never intends to,
locate a new lender. Instead, the perpetrator
files bankruptcy cases in the names of the
homeowners, frequently without the
homeowners' knowledge or consent. This
allows the perpetrator to forestall foreclosure
and to continue receiving mortgage payments
from the victims.

• Property title fraud. This fraud is similar to
the financial counseling fraud described
supra. The major difference is that the
perpetrator convinces the victims to deed their
properties to him or her for little or no
consideration. After acquiring the title, the
victims are fraudulently told that they will be
assisted by negotiating reduced payments or
short sales with the lenders or by locating
other lenders to refinance the loans. The
homeowners are required to pay rent to the
scam artist, who does not pay the existing
mortgage or seek new financing. Fractional
interests of the properties are often deeded to
shell companies controlled by the criminal,
after he or she acquires the title to the
properties. The perpetrator will then file serial
bankruptcy cases in the names of the victim
homeowners and/or in the names of the shell
companies. This tactic complicates and delays
foreclosure—sometimes for months or even
years—because the lender must seek relief
from the automatic stay in each bankruptcy
case. The automatic stay requires all creditors,
lenders, and lien holders immediately to cease
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all foreclosures and collection efforts against
the person or entity who has filed for
bankruptcy.

• Flipping. Perpetrators purchase real estate at
or below fair market value and fraudulently
obtain financing to "sell" the properties to
straw buyers at significantly inflated prices.
Virtually all of the information provided on
the mortgage applications, as well as the
supporting documentation, is false. Further,
mortgage brokers, lenders, and appraisers may
be part of the scheme. To obtain the benefit of
the automatic stay and to keep the scheme
going a little longer, the perpetrators or straw
buyers file fraudulent bankruptcy petitions. 

B. Identity theft schemes

• Falsely obtaining credit or services. In some
identity theft schemes, defendants
fraudulently use a false name and identifying
information or the name and identifying
information of someone they know–typically,
an ex-spouse, ex-partner, or minor child–to
obtain credit or services. When creditors
pursue the defendants for failing to pay what
they owe, the defendants file fraudulent
bankruptcy cases in the false names or in the
names of the victims, without the victims'
knowledge or consent.

• Serial filings. A debtor who has been
previously barred from refiling a bankruptcy
case may file a subsequent bankruptcy case
using a variation of his name and/or Social
Security number or the name of another
person, to obtain the benefit of the automatic
stay. 

To reduce identity theft and serial filing
schemes, Congress included provisions in
BAPCPA that limit the circumstances under
which persons who file bankruptcy will receive
the benefit of the automatic stay. For example, the
automatic stay will only be in effect for thirty
days if a debtor had a previous bankruptcy case
dismissed within one year. 11 U.S.C.
§ 362(c)(3)(A) (2005). Additionally, the
automatic stay will not go into effect at all if a
debtor had two or more bankruptcy cases
dismissed within a year. 11 U.S.C.
§ 362(c)(4)(A)(i). Finally, if a bankruptcy filing is
part of a scheme to "delay, hinder, and defraud"
creditors, involving "transfer of all or part
ownership of, or other interest in" real property or

"multiple filings affecting such real property," the
bankruptcy courts are authorized, after notice and
a hearing, to grant relief from the automatic stay.
11 U.S.C. §§ 362(d)(4)(A), (B).
 
C. Bust-out schemes

Bust-outs are financial crimes that exploit
credit lines and credit cards. Often, the final act in
a bust-out is the filing of a fraudulent bankruptcy
case to delay creditors' collection efforts and to
discharge the debts incurred.

• Credit card bust-outs. Individuals incur
substantial consumer credit card debt within a
relatively short period of time and then file for
bankruptcy protection. Purchases, cash
advances, and transfers from one credit card
to another typically occur within six months
before the bankruptcy filing. Goods purchased
are fungible and easily saleable, such as
electronics, jewelry, motor oil, and baby
formula. Frequently, the same individuals file
bankruptcy several times using false names,
aliases, or false Social Security numbers. The
credit card applications typically include false
information regarding the individuals' income
and employment. Although the perpetrators
list the credit card debt on their bankruptcy
documents, they do not list the assets
purchased with the fraudulently obtained
credit. 

• Business bust-outs. Bust-out companies
establish good credit and then order hundreds
of thousands of dollars of fungible goods over
a short period of time, with no intent to pay.
They sell the goods for cash at a significant
discount and file for bankruptcy protection.
Typically, bust-out companies are in business
for six months or less. Initially, they often
establish good credit ratings with large
consumer goods manufacturers by making
payments early or on time. After establishing
good credit, the bust-out companies request
significant increases in credit, their orders
increase substantially, and they fail to pay
bills as they become due. Lulling techniques
are used to stall creditors. Goods are sold for
cash at significantly below cost. The
perpetrators typically file bankruptcy to stop
collection proceedings and keep the schemes
going a little longer. 
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V. 18 U.S.C. § 1519

In 2002, Congress reiterated the importance of
protecting the integrity of the bankruptcy system
when it enacted 18 U.S.C. § 1519 as part of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Pub. L. No. 107,
§ 820(a), 166 Stat. 745 (2002), also known as the
Public Company Accounting Reform and Investor
Protection Act. Title 18 U.S.C. § 1519 provides:

Whoever knowingly alters, destroys,
mutilates, conceals, covers up, falsifies, or
makes a false entry in any record, document,
or tangible object with the intent to impede,
obstruct, or influence the investigation or
proper administration of any matter within the
jurisdiction of any department or agency of
the United States or any case filed under title
11, or in relation to or contemplation of any
such matter or case, shall be fined under this
title, imprisoned not more than 20 years, or
both.

Although the legislative history of § 1519 is
sparse, Congress stated explicitly that the statute
was enacted to target "individuals who destroy
evidence with the specific intent to impede or
obstruct a pending or future criminal
investigation, a formal administrative proceeding,
or a bankruptcy case." S. Rep. No. 107-146, at 27
(2002), available at 2002 WL 863249 (emphasis
added). 

VI. Bankruptcy: the last act in a series
of criminal schemes

Bankruptcy fraud may be the last act in a
series of criminal schemes. Bankruptcy crimes
have been committed at the end of numerous
types of frauds, including health care,
government, and tax fraud, Ponzi schemes, and
money laundering. Because bankruptcy
documents are signed under penalty of perjury
and because debtors are required to testify under
oath, relative to their financial affairs, bankruptcy
filings can provide a wealth of information for
other criminal investigations. If a subject or target
of an investigation has filed a bankruptcy case, the
USTP can provide a copy of the relevant
bankruptcy documents, as well as the tape of the
first meeting of creditors during which the debtor
testified under oath. The documents and testimony
may be useful in plea negotiations, cross-
examination of witnesses, and in providing
additional charging options. For assistance in

obtaining any bankruptcy-related document or the
tape of the first meeting of creditors, please
contact the USTP office in your area. A list of the
local USTP offices is available at http://www.
usdoj.gov/ust/eo/ust_org/office_locator.htm. 

VII. Recent bankruptcy fraud
prosecutions

A. Operation SILVER SCREEN

In October 2004, the USTP, in conjunction
with USAOs and federal law enforcement
agencies, announced "Operation SILVER
SCREEN," which highlighted the indictment of
twenty-one individuals in seventeen separate
prosecutions. Operation SILVER SCREEN
demonstrated the breadth of enforcement actions
taken by the Department in combating bankruptcy
fraud and protecting the integrity of the
bankruptcy system. The cases collectively
involved the concealment of more than $7 million
in assets, illegal conduct by an attorney and a
certified public accountant, use of false Social
Security numbers and false identities, submission
of forged documents, false statements, and various
fraudulent acts. As of this writing, the coordinated
effort, dubbed "Operation SILVER SCREEN" in
recognition of the USTP's enhanced screening of
bankruptcy cases to identify fraud and abuse, has
resulted in twelve defendants being convicted of,
or pleading guilty to, bankruptcy-related crimes.

The lead case in Operation SILVER SCREEN
was the conviction of Marc Edward Thompson for
a wire fraud and bankruptcy fraud scheme.
Thompson, who was prosecuted by a member of
the Program's Criminal Enforcement Unit and an
AUSA from the Northern District of Illinois, set
fire to his residence, killing his ninety-year-old
mother in the basement of the house. Thompson
obtained insurance proceeds as a result of the fire,
and then concealed these proceeds in an off-shore
account in the name of a shell corporation. He
filed bankruptcy and concealed the proceeds, as
well as other items that were not lost in the fire.
Thompson was convicted of numerous crimes,
including making false statements in bankruptcy,
in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 152(3), and bankruptcy
fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 157. Thompson
was sentenced to 190 years in prison and ordered
to pay $1.4 million dollars in restitution.
United States v. Thompson, 04 CR 944 (N.D. Ill.
2004).
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B. Additional recent bankruptcy fraud
prosecutions

In addition to the cases charged as part of
Operation SILVER SCREEN, there have been a
number of recent bankruptcy fraud prosecutions
across the country. These cases highlight the
diverse types of crimes committed through, or in
relation to, a bankruptcy proceeding. For example,
an AUSA in San Diego recently prosecuted a real
estate equity skimming case against Antonio
Simon, a bankruptcy petition preparer who
fraudulently represented to homeowners that he
could save their properties from foreclosure.
Simon made numerous false representations and
promises to the victims to induce them to pay a
"start-up" fee and a monthly fee for his purported
services. Simon falsely claimed that he would
save the homeowners' properties from foreclosure,
contact the lenders to renegotiate the homeowners'
mortgages, assist in arranging refinancing of their
homes, and use a portion of the homeowners'
monthly fee to pay their lenders. Instead, Simon
kept the homeowners' money and filed fraudulent
bankruptcy cases in the names of the victim
homeowners, as well as in the names of persons
unknown to the homeowners to whom Simon had
fraudulently transferred a fractional interest in the
homeowners' properties. Simon was convicted of
the knowing disregard of bankruptcy laws, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 156, and bankruptcy
fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 157. He was
sentenced to twenty-four months in prison and
ordered to pay more than $23,000 in restitution. A
USTP attorney testified as a witness in the case.
United States v. Simon, 02 CR 2245 (S.D. Cal.
2002).

The USAO in the Northern District of Ohio
prosecuted a similar foreclosure fraud scheme
perpetrated by Albert Thrower. Through his
company, American Services, Thrower targeted
homeowners facing foreclosure and promised that
he could save the victims' homes by assisting
them with bankruptcy filings. The bankruptcy
filings failed to disclose that the documents had
been prepared for a fee by Thrower and/or the
company. As part of the scheme, Thrower
fraudulently represented to the victims that the
bankruptcy clerks would not accept the cases for
filing if the homeowners disclosed his or
American Services' involvement in preparing the
bankruptcy documents. Among other crimes,
Thrower was convicted of violating 18 U.S.C.
§ 1519 by falsifying records in bankruptcy cases.

Thrower was sentenced to ninety months in prison
and fined $188,328. A Program attorney
designated as a Special Assistant United States
Attorney assisted with the prosecution in this case.
United States v. Thrower, 03 CR 341 (N.D. Ohio
2003).

The USAO in the Southern District of New
York obtained convictions against Paul Boghosian
and William H. Spencer for their roles in the
chapter 11 reorganization case of Hawaiian
Airlines, Inc. Boghosian and Spencer were
convicted of conspiracy to commit bankruptcy
fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, and
Boghosian was convicted of two counts of
commercial bribery in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1952(a)(3). Boghosian fraudulently claimed to
be a manager, and Spencer fraudulently claimed
to be a trustee of an entity that purportedly would
provide approximately $300 million in new
capital to fund the Hawaiian Airlines
reorganization. During the conspiracy, Boghosian
bribed an FBI undercover agent, who was posing
as a hedge fund manager, by offering a kickback
to the agent in exchange for the hedge fund's loan
of approximately $2.5 million to pay expenses
purportedly related to obtaining bankruptcy court
approval for the Hawaiian Airlines reorganization.
Boghosian and Spencer also filed false
declarations and submitted altered documents to
the bankruptcy court in support of their claims.
Boghosian and Spencer were sentenced in May
2006. Boghosian was sentenced to twenty-four
months in prison and Spencer was sentenced to
fifty-one months in prison and a $12,500 fine. A
USTP attorney testified as a witness in this case.
United States v. Boghosian, 05 CR 351 (S.D.N.Y.
2005).

The USAO in the District of Kansas recently
prosecuted a number of identity theft/bankruptcy
fraud cases involving defendants who, among
other things, used false Social Security numbers
on their bankruptcy filings. In one case, Derrick
Robinson filed a bankruptcy petition in which he
used a false Social Security number and failed to
disclose two prior bankruptcy cases he filed in
another district using his true Social Security
number. Robinson used the same false Social
Security number to obtain a car loan from a
financial institution insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation, and he used a
different false Social Security number to obtain
another vehicle from a local dealership. Robinson
pleaded guilty to one count of aggravated identity
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theft under 18 U.S.C. § 1028A, and was sentenced
in January 2006 to the mandatory two-year term
of imprisonment. United States v. Robinson, 05
CR 10054 (D. Kan. 2005).

In a second case, Vickie and Galen Beach
filed a bankruptcy case pro se in which they
inverted every digit in their Social Security
numbers. In addition to being charged with use of
false Social Security numbers, the debtors were
charged with submitting a false UCC-1 Financing
Statement to the Kansas Secretary of State's office
fraudulently claiming they had a $500,000
"summary judgment" against the chapter 7 trustee,
and submitting false and fraudulently generated
"arbitration awards" of $1,500,535 and $500,720
to collect against the trustee's bond. Galen Beach,
who was convicted of mail fraud and making false
statements in bankruptcy in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 152(3), was sentenced in January 2006 to
eighteen months imprisonment. Vickie Beach
pleaded guilty to one count of making false
statements in bankruptcy, in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 152(3), and was sentenced in July 2005
to three months in prison. United States v. Beach,
05 CR 10056 (D. Kan. 2005).

VIII. Conclusion

As is evident from the above examples, the
Department's efforts to combat bankruptcy fraud
remain comprehensive and vibrant. The recent
bankruptcy reform legislation has reaffirmed the
importance of detecting and prosecuting
bankruptcy fraud. Through cooperative efforts and
partnerships with the USTP, prosecutors and law
enforcement agents can successfully execute their
responsibilities in fighting bankruptcy fraud and
abuse, and deter those inclined to use the
bankruptcy process to conceal their fortunes,
however great or small.�
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